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A History of the Centre of Danehill Village

Introduction

This issue of our Magazine contains a summary of the information we have on the centre of our village. 

In 1981 and 82 our annual projects covered the history of centre of Danehill village, the roads, the buildings, shops and trades people. We published the results of our research in two magazines, included were details of the people living here from the census returns of 1841 to 1871 and the history of the two churches.

These magazines are long out of print, since their publication many new people have moved into the village who might like to learn something about area.

We have updated the information in the original publications and have added some photographs. We have also included some notes from other issues relating to the village centre.

Space prevents us from including all the contents of the earlier issue, (note about project notes if we decide to publish) The sources we have used – a note on

Our Millennium  Magazine gives an over view of the Parish of Danehill from early times. Other publications still in print include “The Parish in the Second World War”   “We Will Remember Them” – details of the men whose names are on our War Memorial, and Local Blacksmiths and Wheelwrights

The groups of properties

The map on the centre fold shows the area of study, buildings are numbered and the schedule is on page ??. These are the numbers referred to in the articles
Danehill Parish Historical Society Magazines used in this Magazine
Volume
 Number  Date    
Subject

1 
10
 April1981 
Danehill Village Centre Part 1


2 
1 
April 1982   
Danehill Village Centre Part 2.


2
4
April 1983
The Danehill Case (Baptist Chapel Riot)


3
10
May 1990
Freshfield Lane Project


4
2
Nov. 1990
Some Interesting Houses in Danehill Village Centre


4
4
May 1993
Roads around Danehill


4
10
May 1993
Local Alehouses, Taverns and Inns


5
2
Nov. 1994
Why the Red Lion became the White House


6
1
May 1998
Danehill – The First 100 years (As a Civil Parish)


6
6
May 2000
The Millennium Issue, an overview of the history of





Danehill over the last 2000 years


6
8
May 2001
Local Blacksmiths and Wheelwrights

Bit about the Society etc. – sort of .. Hope you find this interesting and suggest you might like to join our Society and learn even more about our local history.

THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE CENTRE OF DANEHILL VILLAGE
By James Rawlings

We have no idea when the first houses were built in Danehill. The road through the village originated as an iron age trading track, c.500 BC, connecting the North Downs at Titsey Park with the South Downs at Westmeston. Like the present road, the track followed the narrow ridge down from Wych Cross to Danehill, but then ran along what is now Freshfield Lane. The road to Lewes, which is probably Saxon in origin, went over Church Hill, until a by-pass was made round the east side of the hill in 1818.

The earliest surviving houses are the Forge (15 on the plan) and the back part of The White House (29) the style of their timber framing indicating a date of c.1450. They were built either side of a green, across which ran the London to Lewes road where it was joined by roads from Freshfield, Horsted Keynes and Chelwood Common. The main road formed the boundary between the ancient parishes of Fletching and Horsted Keynes, out of which Danehill was created in the 19th century. It was also the boundary at this point between the Manors of Sheffield and Horsted Broadhurst.

The closing years of the 15th century saw the introduction of the blast furnaces into Sussex with their ability to produce iron in commercial quantities. It brought wealth and employment to the area which, up to then, had been poor and backward. Danehill appears to have prospered from these activities and by the early 1600s we know of three other houses round the green, (5, 7, & 17), as well as a barn (18,) Danehill Farm barn (6), was also probably in existence by then, unfortunately all these buildings have either been demolished or rebuilt. The White House had probably become an Inn, the Red Lion, where pack horse trains operating between London and Lewes would stop to put down and pick up goods. By 1637 there was a smithy where Danehill Stores (5) now stands. From then on, until the end of the 18th century, a number of small enclosures were granted from the green on which cottages were erected, including (32), which started as a weavers shop in 1790 and had been converted to a cottage by 1830.

The road between Wych Cross and Lewes was turnpiked in 1752. This meant that private companies, in return for making the roads up and maintaining them in good condition, were empowered to charge tolls for using them. There was a toll house at the junction with Freshfield Lane, (22). At this time it was the main road from London to Brighton, which went via Lewes until a shorter road was built through Cuckfield in 1761. This would have affected the trade at the Red Lion, which was further hit when the Sheffield Arms was built at Sheffield Park in 1777 as a coaching inn. The Red Lion stopped trading c.l820.

More cottages were built during the 19th century and, when Holy Trinity Chapel (21) was erected in 1835, the last vestiges of the green disappeared. Because of the constrictions of the site the chapel was orientated north south, There were two galleries, the west one for the Danehurst estate built up by Francis Davies, and the east one for the Woodgate estate owned by his brother Warburton Davies. In the 1870's H.C..Hardy took over Danehurst and C.J. Corbett took over Woodgate, now Cumnor House School. Both families were to play an important part in Danehill affairs.

There was also a Strict Baptist Chapel (4) in the village, built in 1823 alongside the cottage which had replaced the smithy cottage about 1790: the smithy having been moved to a site in Freshfield Lane (13), moving to (13a) in the 1880's. The cottage became the minister's home and, to provide an income, he established a shop there. (See separate article on the chapel). Another commercial enterprise was the beer house established before 1847 in cottage (2), dating from 1701. It became known as the Crocodile, was rebuilt in 1907 and converted into three private houses in 1987, with two more built in the garden.

In 1892 All Saints Church was erected on the hill above the village by Mrs Hardy as a memorial to her husband H.C.Hardy. The old chapel and Nos 17, 19 & 20 were then demolished to create a view of the new building. In 1920 a War Memorial was put up where the chapel had stood and, in 1961, the site was transferred from the Church to the Parish Council: it is now designated as a village green. A Working Men’s Club and Reading Room (10) was built by Mr H. C. Hardy in 1886. In the 1930's it became the British Legion Club and, in the early 1950's, was extended and the village pond filled in to make a car park. In recent years it has become the Danehill Social Club.

During the 1880's Little Danewood East and West (23) were erected in Church Lane, Rose Cottages with the Bakery (25 - 27) on the Lewes Road and East View Cottages (No 33) on the London Road. Other developments since then have been the rebuilding in 1905 of (12), now called Victoria House, the shop added to Rose Cottages (27) in 1922, Danehill Memorial Hall (31) in 1923, St Crispins (28) c.1926, the new vicarage (34) in 1988 and an extension to No 3 with a new cottage behind. Whilst there has been little change to the centre of the village in modern times, there has been considerable development on the outskirts, on the A275 north of (33), along Freshfield Lane and Oak Tree Cottages to the east.The area from the old Baptist Chapel southwards forms part of the Danehill Conservation Area.

My main sources have been: Horsted Broadhurst & Sheffield manorial documents held by the East Sussex Record Office; Danehurst Estate papers owned by the Hardy family; Land Tax returns & Sussex Hearth Tax; An Early Trans Wealden Trackway by J.D. Margery, Sussex Notes & Queries Vol X p62~ Tithe Maps & Schedules for Fletching & Horsted Keynes;
THE VILLAGE COMMUNITY AND CHANGING TIMES
By P.G. Lucas.

Danehill in the early 21st Century is fortunate in still having a Village Stores and Post Office in the village centre, there is also a Social Club and an Estate Agent.

One hundred years ago there were shops a-plenty, the decline of commercial activity in villages and town centres is now a fact of life.

Reading through this magazine the reader can learn something of the changes in the community and commerce in the centre of our Parish.

As shown in the previous article the earliest recorded trading was during the 17th Century in one of the important houses, the old “Red Lion” Inn (29). Travellers by pack horse, cart or carriage called here for refreshment on their journey along the old East Grinstead to Lewes road. There was also a wheelwright and a blacksmith nearby should running repairs be needed.

In the 1750s road improvements following “turnpiking” brought more trade and prosperity to the village centre, by that time there was also a shop in the other important old house.

Thomas Roffe, a mercer, was trading at “The Forge” (15) in 1750. Mercers and grocers traded on this site until 1856 when the business was moved to the old “Red Lion” (29). Blacksmiths occupied part of the house, now named after that trade, until 1960. Blacksmiths were working on the site of Danehill Stores (5) from as early as 1637 this was also later a grocers shop. The wheelwright had his shop on the old main road, over the hill, south of the village.

The 19th century saw the coming of the railway age, the network covered many surrounding towns and villages, but Danehill never had its railway line. Plans to build a line from Uckfield that might have passed through the parish were abandoned. Various carriers were the link with railway stations; details of these are included in our Magazine Vol.4 No.4 on local roadways.

Later in the 19th and into the 20th centuries motor transport was developed. Railways and the motor car caused many changes in the commercial life of our little village centre.

At the end of the 19th century the village centre had more in the way of shops and services than ever before or since. Look through the various trades in the following lists for the year 1895 and you will find two Grocers and Drapers. One was also the Post Office and an Off Licence; and the other also a Butcher, a Beer House, a Blacksmith and an Ironmonger, a Tailor, a Shoemaker, a Baker, a Wheelwright and a resident Policeman. There was also one street lamp opposite “The Crocodile” (2) commemorating one of Queen Victoria’s Jubilees, at the other end of the street there was a lamp over the old church gate.
In 1898 Danehill became a separate Civil Parish and the village centre had a single identity. Before 1898 the old boundary running through the village was a Union as well as a Parish one, one side of the road in the Cuckfield Union and Registration District, and the other in Uckfield. A School was built on part of Chelwood Common away from the village centre in 1865. (See DPHS Society Magazine Vol.2 No.10 April 1985 for the history of education in the area.))
Motor Bus services started in about 1922, and by 1939 there was an hourly service to East Grinstead, Brighton and Uckfield. 

Mains electricity arrived in the village by 1934 mains water and drainage after the Second World War, making life easier for the inhabitants. These services allowed the later expansion of the village, away from the centre. 

The Memorial Hall and The Social Club meet the present needs of the community. Since the closing of the “Crocodile” the village centre has no pub, happily we still have the “Coach and Horses” and the “Red Lion” within the parish. 

There was a recreation ground on a fairly flat field down Horsted Lane, this was ploughed up during the Second War. At a public meeting held in Danehill on 9th November 1962 it was agreed to proceed with the plans prepared by the Parish Council to lease 8 acres of Woodgate Park behind the Memorial Hall (31) for a Sports field and children's Playground. A Sports Club was formed in 1978 and in May 1980 the Rt. Hon. Harold Macmillan opened a new sports pavilion.

This publication is concerned with Danehill village centre, there were other shops, businesses and tradesmen in other parts of the parish, in Chelwood Gate, Chelwood Common and Furners Green that served the inhabitants of the village.

We have gathered our information on local shops and trades from the Census, Parish Magazines and various “Kelly’s” and other directories. Not all the trades appear in directories, I am sure there were other shoemakers and carpenters working in the village. Some details of the shops and businesses in the village centre are shown under the various properties. Some of the changes of owner-ship and movements of businesses from one property to another are included

Although there have been many changes in the village centre it still looks much the same as it did in early photographs Now that the village centre is in a Conservation Area it should continue to look much the same for present and future inhabitants to appreciate. The appearance of the village centre has not changed a great deal in the last 100 years but there have been many changes in the community living here. In earlier times most of the village inhabitants worked on local farms and estates or were shopkeepers. There were only occasional trips to one of the market towns to visit larger shops. Most essentials could be purchased in the village.

Now, with motor transport and modern roads many of the people now work outside the parish or have chosen to retire and live here.

BUILDINGS IN DANEHILL VILLAGE CENTRE
Introduction  These notes have been compiled from the information contained in various issues of our magazine as listed on page ??. The architectural notes are from the late Margaret Holt’s article in Vol. 1 No.10 . Since 1981 there have been a number of new properties built and many of the houses have been altered and extended. Some of the photographs we have included show houses as they appeared before recent alterations. House names can change with different owners, so we are quoting current names. Refer to our earlier publication (or study notes) for earlier property names and sources. We are using the same property numbers as in our earlier magazines.

The properties in the village are grouped together under a heading that, that in some cases refer back to historic names.

THE CROCODILE AREA

A half acre plot at the junction of the main road and Horsted Lane contains buildings (1) and (2). This holding was originally enclosed and granted to Peter Austin in 1701, who erected a cottage on the site. In 1823 it passed to John Luxford who, before his death in 1848, had opened a beerhouse there, the forerunner of the Crocodile. John Luxford and his son, James, were both bricklayers, they were almost certainly the builders of (1) on our map and the rebuilding of (3). Both these houses are built with 'rat-trap' bond brickwork, The youngest child of James was Job Luxford, born in about 1850, who grew up to become an important Builder. The name “Job Luxford” is cast into some of the manhole covers to be found around the village. He built a number of large houses in the area, including Chapelwood Manor.

[image: image22.png]


In recent years Weldane Cottage (35) been built between (3) and the old Crocodile stable, now converted into a bungalow (2a) and two houses built on the pub garden and car park (36 & 37)
.
1 CHERRY RIPE 

Cherry Ripe Cottage is of 19th century date. It is built of brick with a slate roof and is made distinctive by the use of “rat trap” bonding. This is a special form of brick construction in which the bricks are laid flat with a double thickness, thus forming a primitive type of cavity wall. The timbers to the front of the house are added to the facade and are not an integral part of the structure.

Mr. & Mrs Heathfield purchased the property in the late 1930’s, adding the timbering to make the appearance more attractive for the “Cherry Ripe Tea Room” they opened. It was very popular with the soldiers stationed in the village during the Second World War.

2 THE CROCODILE
[image: image23.png]


The first building was erected on the waste in 1701

In the will of James Luxtord brickmaker, dated 1847, it was described as a beerhouse. Presumably he was also a beer retailer. On his death in the same year, it passed to his widow, Mary, and in 1860 to John Harvey of Lewes, a brewer, with William May as the tenant. The earliest use the name "The Crocodile" is in the Court Books of the Manor of Horsted Broadhurst in 1864, though to this day no has come up with a satisfying explanation as to why this unusual name was chosen. The house was rebuilt about 1907 and the May family remained licensees until 1954. After Norman, the last of the Mays, retired the building was “modernised” For a while, with various landlords, it flourished as one of the best eating rather than drinking places in the area. In late 1980s it was closed and is now three private houses.

Refer to photograph on page ?? of the old building
3 HILLSIDE COTTAGE and HOPE COTTAGE 
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The earliest reference is in 1661 when Roger Oakes held a cottage there. After several owners,it comes into the hands of a branch of the Awcock family in 1752 who held it until 1831. In the early part of the 19th century, The old cottage was demolished and a pair of cottages were built in “rat trap” bond.

In 1861 Charles Brooker, a Police 0fficer, aged 33, was living in one half.

DANEHILL STORES AREA
This group of buildings was in Horsted Keynes Parish and in the Manor of Horsted Broadhurst  The earliest record we have found for the island site now occupied by the Danehill Stores was in 1637 when John Masson had a cottage, garden and smith’s shop there. In the days of timber framed buildings, blacksmiths' shops were often permitted to be built on village greens because of the danger of fire. It was a smith’s shop up to 1672 when Thomas Awcocke, a butcher, was admitted. The next entry, when he died in 1708, described the property as a cottage and parcel of land..Thomas Awcocke or Awcock could have rebuilt the cottage and demolished the forge during his lifetime. Mrs Holt dated the earliest part of the present building from the end of the 17th century.

The forge was no longer there in 1823 when the holding was sold to the Trustees of the Strict Baptists. They built a chapel (4) alongside the house, to which they added a shop to provide a living for their minister, William Roberts.

4 ROBERTS WARREN.
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James Langridge, the elder lived at Christopher Fields, Church Lane. In his Will, proved on the 13th of August 1806, he bequeathed Christopher Fields and lands to his son, James Langridge, wheelwright of Newick. Also the little building in the front garden of the house “for the public preaching of the Gospel, as long as there shall be a Particular Baptist Church in Forest Row.” To his son William Langridge, a cottage and a small piece of land in Danehill Village (4) and a monetary bequest to each of his three daughters, Elizabeth Browning, Mary Holford and Hannah Langridge.

After his Father's death James Langridge, the younger, became the leader of the tiny group of the Danehill Strict Baptists. Then in 1810, an undischarged soldier, William Roberts, aged 29, came to Danehill, looking for work and lodgings. He said he had been a very bad character but that through the grace of God, his life had been totally changed. He was invited to preach in the little chapel. Soon, so many people wanted to hear him preach, the Baptists had to hold their services in a large barn. They found him lodgings in the village and collected enough money among themselves to pay for his discharge from the army.

On the 28th of May 1815 William Roberts was appointed the official Pastor of the Strict Baptists of Danehill. In the same year William Langridge transferred his cottage (4) to his brother-in-law, William Browning, who, seven years later gave the cottage to William Roberts. He, in turn, one year later, transferred the cottage to a group of trustees. They extended the cottage to include a shop, as a source of revenue for their Pastor and they built a much larger Chapel on one side of the cottage. In 1834 a second Chapel was built at Newick and William Roberts was appointed the Pastor of both chapels. Services took place on Sundays at Danehill in the mornings and in the afternoons and evenings at Newick. William Roberts left Danehill in 1843 to work at Deal.

His successor was John Poynder from near Huddersfield, who was here for seven years His ministry ended with a split congregation resulting in a Court case, heard at Cuckfield Petty Sessions on May 15th 1852, and wide coverage in the local newspapers. Mr Poynder gave evidence saying, that several members of his congregation some months ago, left the chapel at Danehill and held their services elsewhere. Then they came back to the Chapel on Sunday the 25th of April last. Rival members of the congregation sang different hymns against each other and he was forcibly prevented from entering the pulpit. He named the ring-leaders as Lashmer Sherlock, James Sherlock, Henry Elsey, Benjamin Newnham and Thomas Langridge. Mr Huggett, a churchwarden, came to his assistance but was overpowered. An agreement was finally reached out of Court, and approved by the magistrate. Mr Poynder was to have the free use of the Chapel during May, preach a final sermon and then leave.

James Warren came to Danehill later that year, he was to be the last resident Pastor. He left after a few years and the Baptists had to rely on supply preachers. Services became infrequent and the Chapel was finally closed in 1962.

It was sold to Mr and Mrs Reginald Turner, who had already bought the cottage and shop. They obtained permission from the authorities to turn the Chapel into a private dwelling for their own use, providing that the bodies in the graveyard in front of the Chapel must not be disturbed. It was Mr Turner who had the oriel window added to the front of the Chapel, In 1972 the shop and cottage (4) were leased to Mr and Mrs Dowling; and Chapel Cottage (5) was purchased from the Turners by Mr & Mrs Bailey in 1974, who renamed it "Roberts Warren" after the first and last pastor.

5  DANEHILL STORES 
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The house was built before 1637 and rebuilt in the late 17th Century.

The original structure comprises a small timber-framed cottage and this has been enlarged in several stages. The roof and front wall have also been altered in order to raise the height of the rooms and sash windows have been inserted. There are a number of timbers showing in the earlier section of the house, including a bressummer indicating the position of a small bedroom fireplace, and one well shaped root-stock remains. 

The old Chapel building was constructed at right angles to the original cottage, with good brickwork, and still retains a large blank arch in the south wall.

A shop was established here to provide a living for the chapel preacher from the 1820s. At that time there was still a mercers shop at The Forge (15). The business as we know it today was set up during the time of various members of the Hoadley family who were grocers and drapers from the 1850s until 1910. In 1883 Mr John Hoadley’s Horsted Keynes Rates were increased because of the addition made to his shop at Danehill. The Hoadleys were farmers at Horsted Keynes and at Tanyard Farm, Danehill. Numerous other members of the Hoadley family were in trade as shopkeepers in different parts of the county..

In 1910 Edward Hoadley owned and occupied The Firs (12) now Victoria House, he also owned the pairs of cottages Fair View (11) and East View (33) as well as the earlier Rose Cottages (25 – 27)
[image: image27.png]



Stanley Chandler, the new owner, did not take over the Post Office and the Telephone exchange, these were moved to “East View (33) in 1910 The Post master was Thomas Muddle, previously employed by Edward Hoadley who owned that pair of cottages.

Stanley Chandler was the grocer and draper here until his death in 1930, his father, Charles, ran the business for a few years. His last advertisement in the Parish Magazine December 1935 reads:

“CHARLES CHANDLER, DANE HILL STORES
Is Stocked with a Variety of Goods to suit the Inhabitants, and, by giving strict attention to business and supplying the best articles at reasonable prices, hopes to secure an increased support. Telephone No. 63 - for immediate delivery”.

This same advertisement was repeated in the Magazine for January 1936 under the name of J. BRISTOW. Mr. Bristow was involved with the problems of food rationing during the 1939-45 war and retired in July 1948.

The subsequent owners of the shop are listed below, together with their approximate dates of occupation.

1948-1951  Mr. Magarry.
1951-1958  Mr. and Mrs. V. Mahiques.

1958-1964  Mr. and Mrs. Shrewring.
1964-1972  Mr. and Mrs. Turner. 

1972-1985  Mr. and Mrs. Dowling.
1985-2000  Mrs Joy Marsh

2000 Mr & Mrs Crilly

The Post Office moved back into the Stores from across the road at Danehill Farm during the later years of Mr. and Mrs. Turner's occupation.

DANEHILL FARM AREA
Behind the present Danehill Farm stood a much earlier building (7) which Mrs Holt dated to about 1550. This was the original farmhouse with its barn (6). 

It appear in the Horsted Keynes land tax described as a farm, with the low rateable value of £2, and the same owners and occupiers also appear in the Fletching land tax for land and a house (first mentioned in 1770) with a rateable value of £8. The farmhouse (and about four acres) was on one side of the main road in Horsted Keynes, the other part of the farm was in Fletching on the other side. 
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In 1875 the Danehurst Estate was offered for sale, the Sale particulars show properties that had been purchased by General of Danehurst, including some in the village centre. These include “Danehill Farm” and Farmhouse, purchased from Joseph Assender in 1861, and Fern Cottage (16) and 2 acres of land.. 

6 DANEHILL FARM BARN
Built in the 17th Century and demolished in the late 1920s
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The shed used by the Ashdown Fencing Co. was built behind the barn. The Post Office was later on the site. The village pond was in the shadows on the left of the photograph above.

7 OLD FARMHOUSE.
Built in about 1550 the house was abandoned in the 19th Century and used as a garden shed.. The old timber-framed cottage stood in the garden to the west of the present Farm House it was demolished in1979.

8 DANEHILL FARM HOUSE. 
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There was a house on the site that was built before 1629.

The back of the present premises date from the early 18th century and the imposing front from about 1800. It has an excellent brick facade of soft coloured bricks and large sash windows to the ground floor with smaller windows recessed at the first floor. The Doric entrance doorway adds great elegance to the house, and there are several touches of early Victorian decoration. This is repeated within the house, and cornices, doors and fireplaces have details of the period,

Danehill Farm did not in fact become a farmhouse until the 1860s. The site was occupied by 1629 when John Awborne inherited a messuage and three roods of land from his brother Edward. There is evidence to suggest that there had been at least one earlier tenant before Edward. By 1634 it was in the possession of Erasmus Snell, otherwise Knell, of the same family who held Knells on the other side of the green. From 1754 onwards the property was held by a branch of the Awcock family who are described as butchers of Danehill. Their obvious prosperity is shown by the addition of the new front.

Abraham Awcock ,the owner in 1840, belonged to a family of Butchers and he was a. direct descendant of Thomas Awcock, Butcher of Danehill mentioned by Gi1es Moore in the 17th century. The main butcher’s business had moved out of the village and was at North Northlands Farm on, Church Hill.

From 1875 until 1920 the Farm belonged to the Danehurst Estate with tenant farmers in occupation. The house and a small quantity of land was sold in 1920. The remainder of the land was farmed from a new house and buildings in Freshfield Lane, now called Latchetts Farm.

The next owner was Lady Decies whose advertisements under the name of "Madame Sylvia" appear from 1922 to 1924:
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In addition Dances were held in the old barn.

Kelly's Directories for 1927 and 1938 show “Robert Maxwell, Ashdown Fencing Company”. The barn and other farm buildings at the top of Horsted Lane (6) were demolished at about this time and a large corrugated iron shed was built. This shed was used for the manufacture of cleft chestnut fencing. This building has now [image: image32.jpg]


been removed. 

In the early 1930's a small wooden building was erected in front of the house into which the Post Office was moved from East View, The sub-Postmistress was then Mrs. Margaret Butler, the daughter of Mr. & Mrs. Maxwell. Advertisements show that in addition to the postal business wools and sweets were sold. Mrs. Butler was also the Agent for Southdown Coach Services.

The Post Office continued there until about 1970 when it returned to its old home at Danehill Stores across the road. The wooden building was removed when the road was widened.

9 VILLAGE POND. During the early 1950's the village pond in front of Danehill Farm was filled in to make a car park for the enlarged British Legion Club 

10 DANEHILL SOCIAL.CLUB 
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This was built in 1886 by Mr. H. C. Hardy of Danehurst as a Working Men’s Club and Reading Room. It provided some indoor recreation for the men working on the building of All Saints church during the hard winter of 1891. The Reading Room was used by local men until the 1930’s when it became The British Legion Club. In 1972 it became Danehill Social Club. The building was extended and a new facade built in….???.
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11 - 1 & 2 FAIR VIEW 
This pair of houses was built before 1894 by Edward Hoadley of Danehill Stores. No 2 was the Police House until 1945. The “Blue Lamp” can be seen by the front door and the notice board in front of the house.

In the other house lived Mr. & Mrs Trayton Funnell, who built the Corner Shop (27), Mr Funnell was also the local barber.

12 VICTORIA HOUSE. 

The Horsted Keynes Tithe Map of 1840 shows a plot of land between Danehill Farm and Freshfield Lane containing a house, garden and sheds belonging to Joseph Assender and occupied by James Burtenshaw. The house was possibly of 18th century build, we have not found any details about it. The old house was demolished in the late 19th Century and three new buildings erected.

[image: image35.png]


At around the time of the building of the two Fairview cottages Edward Hoadley also built this house “The Firs”. for his own use. It was the Vicarage from 1939 until the present one was built in the grounds in 1988. The first Danehill Vicarage was built out of the village centre, on the Turnpike Road south of the village in the 1850s, now Richard Bartram House.

Have an alternative entry for this

THE FAYREWARES AREA
The picturesque old house on this plot of land was, in earlier times known as Fayrewares, named after Robert F……. who owned it in 14?? It was built as a farmhouse and had a barn, an orchard, two closes and six acres of land attached to it. However, by 1730 the land seems to have been farmed from Knells (17) across the road and about 1745 the property was transferred to Robert Humphreys with only half an acre surrounding it. By 1750 it was owned and lived in by Thomas Roffe who was a mercer and would surely have traded from the house. Thomas Roffe died in 1776 and left the property to his nephew, Richard Tamplin, father of the founder of the Brighton brewery. Richard was also a mercer and appeared to have traded in goods other than fabrics, amongst which he supplied nails to Lord Sheffield. Could these have been made in his own forge?

13 OLD SMITHY..We know that by the 1830s and almost certainly earlier there was a blacksmith's on the land adjoining the house now known as The Forge (15). The site for the first smith's shop on the site is (13) on the map, The building was demolished in the late 19th century and a new blacksmith’s shop built.

13a NEW SMITHY.
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 This was the premises George Etherton took over the blacksmith’s business in 1897 In addition to the forge there was an ironmonger's shop in the old house which sold nails, screws, paraffin, lamps and lamp glasses and hardware. In this workshop George Etherton designed and made the much admired “Butterfly” gate in front of the house (15).
Petrol was sold at the forge from an early date and we have a photograph showing the pumps with petrol priced at 1s 1ld. (just under 10p) per gallon. The business closed in 1960 on the retirement George Etherton’s sons.

The building has been extended and is now occupied by Curtain Craft and …….

From the late 1930s until 1963 The Danewood Press was in a building at the back, that has now been removed. The Press moved to the present site in Chelwood Gate.

14  IVY COTTAGE Was built in the mid 19th  Century as a pair of cottages, is now a single dwelling.

15 THE FORGE.
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Photograph of the house, taken before 1914, shows the ironmongers shop on the left of the building. The upper part of the front wall was covered with “mathematical” wall tiles giving the appearance of brickwork.

The old shop front and the tile hanging have been removed, the house is now restored to something like its original appearance.

This is important mediaeval house comparable with the “White House” on the other side of the Green was built as a timber-framed farm house around 1450, having a barn, orchard, two closes and six acres of land and was originally known as “Fayrewares”. It was an open hall house with a solar bay to the south. The original moulded dais beam, at what would have been the end of the hall, still remains, although the panelling beneath has now been removed. The mullions of a medieval window can still be seen, preserved within the outshot to the rear of the house.

Some time in the 17th century a chimney was inserted and the hall floored over. At the same date the roof was also renewed, with staggered butt purlins and a half hip at each end. There are the remains of a small window of the period with ovolo mouldings to the mullions.

Its days as a farm did not last for long. By 1730 the land seems to have been farmed from the adjacent property of Knells, now demolished, and about 1745 the property was transferred to Robert Humphreys with only ½ acre surrounding it. By 1750 it was owned and lived in by Thomas Roffe, a mercer, who presumably traded from the house. He died in 1776 and left the property to his nephew Richard Tamplin, also a mercer who traded in other goods besides fabrics, for instance supplying nails to Lord Sheffield. He also had shops in Fletching and Horsted Keynes. Richard Tamplin’s son, named after his father, paid Land Tax on the property until 1804, he left Danehill to found “Tamplin’s Brewery” 

There were various owners after Tamplins and by the 1841 Census the house had been divided, In that part of the house with the shop front lived Henry White, a grocer. In the 1855 Post Office Directory he was also a postmaster. Henry White moved his business across the green to the old “Red Lion” farm (29) in 1856.
The other part of the house was occupied by John Kilner, a blacksmith who would have been using the Old Smithy (13). Other blacksmiths were George Goldsmith and William Painter followed by George Etherton in 1897, by his time the house was in single occupation, the old grocer’s shop used for his ironmonger’s business.

WINDMILL HILL
The field on the northern side of All Saints Church once contained a number of interesting buildings. In about 1818 a windmill was erected on the Dane hill. It stood a little to the west (Freshfield Lane side) of the site of “All Saints Church” which was to be built on the hill seventy-four years later.

Positioned high on the hill, with its sails turning in the wind, the new windmill must have been a fine sight. So far, we have found no pictures or plans and only four brief references to it, but these tell a complete story: they record the birth, brief working life and sudden death of the Danehill Windmill. 

A newly erected Post .-. Corn Mill was offered for sale in 1818 with two pairs of stones, machines etc., complete. 2 acres of rich meadow land stable and hog pound, desirably situate in Danehill in the above parish adjoining to the turnpike road from Lewes to London, centrally placed for grist work and a good ready flour trade.

The Brighton Herald -December the 4th 1830 (Saturday) reported that: “At about midnight on Saturday last the village of Danehill was aroused by the cry of “Fire”. The mill of Mr. Magennis was burnt to the ground in under an hour, but it was believed that the fire was purely accidental”. The mill was never re-built.

16 FERN COTTAGE 
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The house stands on part of the land that went with The Forge and appears to have been built in the 18th century. Since at least early in the 17th century the land was held in an agricultural estate consisting of two hundred acres in various parcels in the Freshfield Lane area, which were made up into three or four holdings and let to farmers. It was from this estate that The Forge was detached and it could be that the origins of Fern Cottage was as a replacement after the land ceased to be farmed from Knells. Certainly, by 1816 and probably earlier, the connection was broken

A Sale catalogue of 1822 shows that property sold included fields, one the Windmill Field in Danehill, and woodlands extending along Freshfield Lane from Danehill village.

17 KNELLS – 

This was a farmhouse, possibly built by John and Thomasina Lucas, after John Collins had sold them four acres out of his holding of seventy-six acres called North Northlands in 1588. However, we have no written record of a house on this site until 1634, when Nicholas Dobson is described as surrendering the tenement he inhabited and four acres, late a parcel of the Northern Northlands.

The only details we have of the house, besides its outline in the 19th century maps, is the 1662 Hearth Tax Returns, showing that it has one chimney and an inventory taken on the death of William Knell in 1730. This shows a kitchen, parlour, passage, brewhouse, milkhouse and buttery on the ground floor, two upstairs rooms, an attic and a closet.

Described as “Windmill Hill Cottage” on the 1881 Census when it was the home of James Thompsett and family.

18 BARN. 
This barn could have been built in the 16th Century, it stood in front of Knells (17) but did not belong to it, but appears to have originally been part of The Forge, or Fayrewares, Farm. The earliest record we have found is for 1630, when it is described as half a barn and a small close of customary land. Although this description continues into the 19th century, I have been unable to find any reference to the other half, the inference being that the other half had been pulled or had fallen down by 1630 and that it could have been built considerably earlier. The barn was probably demolished when Holy Trinity Chapel was built.

THE FIRST SCOUT HUT

The first Scout Hut was built by Mr. Ronald Hardy facing the twitten behind the old Church Yard, almost on the site of the old barn (18). The Scout Hut was used by the Danehill Scouts and Cubs and also for occasional social functions. In later years it was used by the Infant Welfare Clinic and the Library.

As the building was little used it was removed from the site in 1957 A new Scout Hut was built in the Recreation Ground behind the Memorial Hall in 1963.
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19 COTTAGES  
Between Knells and Church Lane was a small piece of land that was described in 1824 as being long since enclosed from the waste, or the village green. Sometime before two cottages, The pair of cottages were erected in the early 19th Century. 

20 COTTAGE & SHOP
This cottage and workshop was built in about 1770. Originally it included a cordwainers (shoe-maker’s) shop, which later became a Wheelwrights shop. 

In 1894 Mrs Hardy purchased the plot of land between the new All Saints Church and the earlier church (21), Knell's house (17), 3 cottages and buildings (19 and 20), once a cordwainers, later a Wheelwrights, were all demolished to give us the fine view we now have of the new church.

21 HOLY TRINITY CHAPEL. 
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In 1835 The Countess of Sheffield laid the foundation stone of the new “chapel of ease” on part of Danehill green.  The new brick building was in the parish of Fletching, previously people would have travelled to the Parish Church there. The Davies brothers of Woodgate and Danehurst probably paid most of the cost, they had there own private galleries, The Danehurst gallery is on the left of the picture. After Danehill became an Ecclesiastical District in 1851 it was known as Holy Trinity Church. The building was severely damaged by fire in 1887, it was repaired and served the parish until All Saints Church was built on “Windmill Hill”. The building was demolished in 1893, the War Memorial was erected on the site in 1920.

22 TOLLHOUSE. 
In front of the old church, where Freshfield Lane joins the main road there was a toll house with a small garden, it was built sometime between 1813 and 1839 and was pulled down after the tolls were abolished in 1865. 

On the 1841 Census The Toll Gate shown occupied by James Bennett, aged 35, and his wife Harriet, aged 34, and four children.

CHURCH LANE AREA
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Across Church Lane from the Windmill Field was an enclosure of half an acre, where Little Danewood Cottages (23 & 24) now stand. On the land was a small house, now demolished, grandiosely called Little Danewood Hall, a name referring to a wood then standing nearby. I suspect the land had been taken from the Green in the late 18th century. At that time what is described as a road, but more likely a track, branched off from Church Lane where Little Danewood North now stands. It followed a line that led to the steps from the main road to the Cemetery and then picked up the present footpath to Collingford Lane behind Richard Bertram House. When the by-pass was constructed in 1818, it provided a new route to the present footpath and the old track was abandoned.

23 LITTLE DANEWOOD NORTH & SOUTH.
This pair of cottages was built in 189??on Church Hill, north of the Wheelwrights shop (23). They may have been built to replace the cottages demolished in the Windmill Field opposite. The first occupants were a shoemaker, Alfred Thomas Warnett, and a tailor, William Morley, later Harry Scutt. Danehill lost it’s tailor when Mr Scutt died in the influenza epidemic after the 1918-18 War.

24 LITTLE DANEWOOD EAST & WEST  The Wheelwright’s
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The older part of the building, on the East, was built by James Nimrod Langridge before 1861, he had purchased Little Danewood Hall and obtained further small portions of waste, including the end of the old trackway at its junction with Church Hill, and built his house, Wheelwrights shop and timber yard. James Nimrod Langridge is shown at the Wheelwrights shop on the 1861 Census. The house was called “Providence Cottage” 

A later addition, now Little Danewood West, was built before 1886. These rather grander rooms were let as apartments by Fanny, the wife of James ( See Fanny’s Last Outing in Magazine Vol. 6 No. 9). After the death of Enoch Langridge in 1930 the house was divided into two separate parts. The older part was almost destroyed by fire in 19??, it was rebuilt and retains its original appearance.

James Nimrod Langridge’s ancestors had been wheelwrights at Christopher Fields on the old main road over the hill for generations, he moved the business from there at some time after the new road was made in 1818. 

The wheelwright’s shops were demolished in the 1950s.

(see Vol. 6 No.8 for a full account of Wheelwrights and Blacksmiths in the area.)
COWLE ALLEN FESTE AREA
The White House was originally a farm and had four acres attached to it. No doubt they farmed other land as well and grazed cattle on the green. Our first written record referring to it is the will of Edward Phyllips of Lewes dated 1551, when he leaves his house and lands ca1led “Cowle Allen Feste” to his son Edward. The name later becomes “Cowle Allen Stuffe”, but when the house became an inn it was also known as the “Red Lion”

The land from the White House (29) to 1 Rose Cottages (25) was part of the old holding. There was a cottage to the south of the farmhouse that was demolished many years ago. Terry’s Row was an early name for the group of cottages and shops built along the main road, by a Mr Terry, they were renamed Rose Cottages. On the architecture Mrs Holt wrote: “Besides these important houses all the smaller cottages which surround the Green have interesting features. Those to the south of “White House” have good chequered brick-work and unusual window dressings of a type which appears to be of local origin.” (Rose Cottages 25-28)
25  1-3 ROSE COTTAGES. 
Numbers. 1 and 2 were built before 1875and Number 3 added a little later.

26 THE BAKERY 
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The Bakery and cottage were built as a pair between 1872 & 1878, on land that had previously belonged to The Red Lion, later to be named The White House. The man who built the Bakery and the adjacent cottages was William Terry, the tenant of Haven/Heaven Farm, Furners Green, between 1873 & 1881. His daughter, Sarah, married Spencer Huggett, the -grandfather of Maurice and David Huggett of Portmansford Farm, Furners Green. There is a strong tradition in the Huggett family that William Terry built the bakehouse for his daughter Annie, who, whilst out in service as a cook-housekeeper married the butler and that later they worked at a big house in Ireland. The marriage was unhappy and Annie left him and with her little boy came back from Ireland to Haven Farm.

Mrs Ann Wilson was the first Baker, from c.l878-1891.Was she Annie Terry? Ann Wilson died in August 1891 and is buried at Danehill. To quote the census returns for Danehill 1881 & 189I “4 Rose Cottages. Ann Wilson, widow, Master Baker, aged 47 [1881] born Surrey, parish unknown. Robert W. Wilson, son, scholar, aged 12. [1881], Baker, 22 [1891] born Dublin, Ireland”. Despite extensive searches there is still no clue as to her parentage, or to any connection with the Huggett or Terry families.

The next baker was Alonzo Cox from c. 1894 until 1936, he died in 1937, aged 84.

Dame Margery Corbett Ashby [1882-1981] vividly remembered Mr Cox and his horse. “He was such a nice man and he had such a lovely horse. 1 admired that horse excessively.” This photograph of a neat, trim Alonzo Cox in his well-painted delivery van, a splendid bay pony between the shafts. It was probably a successor to the horse that five-year old Margery remembered but again, a very fine animal.

Mrs Cox, an apple cheeked Somerset born lady served in the shop, In addition to bread and cakes sweets and chocolate were on sale, even a farthings worth was available, wrapped in hand made blue paper bags.

A. J. Newnham who previously had the butcher’s and grocer’s shops at The White House (29) in the 1920s came to help out his ailing old friend, Alonzo Cox. When A.J Newnham took over the business in 1937 a Ford motor van replaced the pony and trap. In 1947 his brother E. C. Newnham and his wife took over the business with Mr Cooper as the baker. William G. Cottenham took over the Bakery in 1951 and employed Colin Lucas as a roundsman.

Following the retirement of Mr Cottenham in 1979 the property and business was purchased by Mrs Reardon. Finding it difficult to find a skilled baker  Mrs Reardon tried buying in bread and cakes, unfortunately the business steadily declined and was closed down after Christmas in 1980. Notes written by Hylda Rawlings.
27   6-8 ROSE COTTAGES and The Corner Shop.
This group of cottages was built in about 1881. 
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THE CORNER SHOP
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Mr. and Mrs. T. Funnell lived at the Oak Farm on the main road South –of the village where Mrs. Funnell had a sweet and tobacco shop in the premises which had previously been a Beer House. Mr. Trayton “Trate” Funnell had carriages for hire, ran the small f arm and was a barber in his spare time.

A new shop was built by Mr. and Mrs. Funnell on the North end of Rose Cottage (27) c.1922. This advertisement appeared in the Parish Magazine:
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MR. AND MRS. J.B. GARDINER had purchased the business by January 1929 and were at the shop for over 30 years. As the advertisement shows, “wireless” had arrived: Mr Gardiner continued to supply and repair radios, and, when mains electricity arrived “wired” many of the village properties. Mr & Mrs F. Stevens purchased the business on the retirement of the Gardiners in 1962 and from that time it was called “The Corner Shop”.

In 1971 a little wooden hut next to the shop, which had housed Cris Newnham's bookmaker’s business until 1926, was demolished. The Corner Shop was then enlarged to its present size. The sweet and tobacco business closed down in 19 ??. The premises are now occupied by Blanchards, Estate Agents

28 ST. CRISPINS. 
This was built by Crispen C. Newnham at the time of his marriage in 1926 and the ground floor of the house contained a shoe shop and workroom.
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“Cris” came to Danehill in 1921 setting up his business in the shed on the north of Rose Cottages (27). The was his first advertisement in the Parish Magazine in March 1922 -
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The business closed after the death of Cris Newnham in 1962.
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THE WHITE HOUSE: (29)
This photograph, taken before the First World War, shows the building when it was a Grocer’s and Butcher’s, at the time it was occupied by Benjamin Newnham. The single story extension on the left contained the Butcher’s shop. The Grocer’s shop was in the front part of the main building. 

'The White House', is one of the oldest and most interesting houses in the parish. 

This dwelling was originally a “hall house” built in c.1450 with four acres of land attached. The original house had no ceiling or upper storey. Heating was by a wood fire in the centre of the room; the smoke ascending to the roof rafters before finally escaping through small (purpose-made) apertures at each end of the roof. Today the massive roof rafters in the old part of the house are still streaked and blackened with soot from the smoke of those ancient wood fires.

Over the centuries living conditions gradually became more comfortable. First, a chimney was constructed and then, with the smoke contained therein, an upper storey could be inserted with a ladder or staircase access, there is a date carved on the bressummer over the hearth, rather difficult to decipher, but it appears to be 1608.  Window glass replaced the old wooden shutters. The exterior of the timber-framed building was encased in brick. In the late 18th or early 19th century a new and imposing front was added making the spacious and attractive house we see today.

Giles Moore, the Rector of Horsted Keynes between the years 1655 and 1679, tells us quite a lot about this house in his Journal. It was then being used as a farmhouse and also as an Inn. The landlord and occupier was William Lin. He paid tithes to the Rector for some of the farm lands he used in Horsted Keynes Parish.

The Rev. Giles Moore would ride to the Danehill inn to collect newspapers, books and other goods delivered there from London. He sometimes had a refreshing drink there before he and his horse tackled the return journey along the winding precipitous road from Danehill to Horsted Keynes. The road was typical of the majority of thoroughfares in the Sussex Weald. In a wet winter the ruts would be so sticky and deep that it was impossible for even a light wheeled vehicle to traverse the road. In summer, baked under a hot sun, the ruts in the heavy clay would be just as deep and as hard as iron.

Wealden travellers usually walked or rode a horse. The good Rector's books and goods arrived at William Lin’s house on the backs of pack-horses. Oxen, which are sturdier than horses, were extensively used by Sussex farmers to draw the plough or the farm cart.

The inn at Danehill, conveniently situated beside the road from London to Brighton, seems to have been well-used and established when Giles Moore patronised it. 

William Lin and his successors appear to have kept an inn or a public house going until the year 1800 when the innkeeper was one William Legge. There was a lively incident at the “Red Lion” that led to William Legge making a statement to the local Magistrate, Lord Sheffield.

A few years earlier there had been a threat of invasion by Napoleon Bonaparte and Sussex was crammed with soldiers placed there to foil a landing by the French on the coast 

Supplying food and shelter for the troops was a problem. The military authorities drew up a list of inns and alehouses and calculated the number of officers, men and horses that could be billeted in each of them.

On the 16th April 1800 “William Legge of the Red Lyon Dane Hill in the Parish of Fletching on his Oath Deposes that he keeps a Small Public House at Dane Hill”. He goes on to state that “for some time past so severely oppressed by the billeting of Soldiers to the Number of 25 at a time which have been sent to him from Uckfield on a March as an adjacent place altho upwards of 8 Miles distant, in so much that not being able any longer to support such an Expence or provide for the Soldiers in such a Situation he has been obliged to decline Keeping a Publick House of which he gave Notice to the Constable on Saturday the 12th Inst.”. 

He goes on to describe how a Corporal and 11 men of the 13th Regiment of Foot came to his house demanding to be billeted, when they found that it was no longer a public house they broke open the principle door of the house. Although William requested them not to make a disturbance as his wife -

“was lately brought to bed” the Corporal, followed by some of the men, forced their way up the stairs and “greatly terrified his sd Wife who has since been very much indisposed in consequence thereof, repeatedly struck the sd Wm Legge pushing their bayonets against his Side Swearing they would run him thro' the Body,”

they also knocked down and assaulted other men who came to assist William. 

The soldiers then marched William as far as Maresfield, threatening him, and others who came to his assistance, with bayonets. They forced him to give them three guineas, swearing they would keep him prisoner until he paid, before he was dismissed and allowed to return home. We do not know what was the outcome of the case, it may have been settled by Lord Sheffield

Whether William Legg or anyone else opened The Red Lion as a public-house again has not been ascertained. The new front was added to the building either just prior to or about the year 1800. It may be that from then on it was used solely as a farm house, but still retained its old name of 'The Red Lion'. Certainly the Fletching census return for 1841 shows William Browning as the owner and occupier of The Red Lion and he is described as a Farmer. William Browning died in the year 1856.

The present name of the house can be traced back to the next owner, the “Red Lion” was purchased by Henry White in 1856. White had traded as a Grocer and Draper at “The Forge” (15) and transferred his business here. In various Kelly’s Directories and Census returns he is shown as Grocer and Draper, Receiver of Post and a farmer of 20 acres. After the death of Henry White in 1872 the premises and farm were purchased by C. J. Corbett Esq. and became part of the Woodgate Estate, part of the land on Church Hill was given to the Parish by Mr Corbett for use as a Cemetery.
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Kelly’s Directory for 1878 show Isaac Grover as Postmaster, a Mr Thompson was a grocer there before Benjamin Newnham appears by 1895.

During the time of Benjamin Newnham the extension was built on the north side of the house as a butcher's shop. 

By 1895 Edward Hoadley was the Postmaster at Danehill Stores opposite (5).
Charles Head was the next grocer, the butchers were probably still the Newnham family, by 1922 it was A.J. Newnham, a son of Benjamin who was the butcher, a year later he was also running the grocery business. It was during his time that the Telephone Exchange was transferred from East View (33). A. J. Newnham returned to the village in 1937 to take over the Danehill Bakery.

[image: image51.jpg]


By 1926 the businesses had separated again, Isaac W. Scrace was the butcher followed by Frederick Street who closed the business down in 1938. The grocery business was taken over by H.S. Tunks who also had the Post Office and grocery shop at Furners Green, it had closed down by 1931.

For a while the Bruce family lived in the house and operated the Telephone Exchange. The next tenants were Mr & Mrs Barnes Moss who continued to operate the Telephone Exchange until it the new automatic one was built off Freshfield Lane in 1947.
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In 1931 the house gets another name with yet another colour the old “Red Lion” known as “The White House” becomes “The Orange Tea Rooms”. Mrs Barnes Moss used the old grocer’s shop to provide hospitality for a later mode of travel, it was a favourite venue for cycling clubs at weekends and continued until 1939

The butcher’s shop was the first guard room of the local Home Guard in the Second World War.

Soon after the end of that war the butcher’s and grocer’s shops were converted to form part of a separate dwelling. In 1954 the property was purchased by Mr. & Mrs J. Sales who later removed the shop front and restored the facade of the house to what was probably its original appearance. 
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The White House that we see now, for so long a village Inn and farmhouse, later a grocer's shop and Post Office, a butcher's, telephone exchange and a tea room, is now a private residence.

31 DANEHILL MEMORIAL HALL 
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Built in 1923

Mrs Corbett of Woodgate is second from the right in the photograph taken shortly after the building was completed

Mrs. Marie Corbett wrote a letter to the Parish Magazine of December 1919 headed "The proposed memorial hall" it started:

Dear Mr. Editor,

“I beg the hospitality of a small space in your widely read Magazine to lay before your readers my views as to their duties in regard to what we all seem to have very much at heart, our Village Memorial Hall.

We want it now, and the sooner we get it the better, but of course we must be reasonable. Present prices are exorbitant and we should not get our money's worth” The village, and Mrs Corbett, eventually got their building”

Mrs. Leonora Messel of Danehurst who died in 1918 was closely involved with the new Danehill Women’s Institute, her husband, Harold George Messel, died in 1920 and his executors made a donation from his estate of £1,000 towards the cost of a Hall for the use of the, WI. in memory of his wife. Additional funds were raised to build a larger Hall that was also a Memorial to the men of the Parish killed in the Great War of 1914-18.

The architect was a Miss Hughes and the builders were Messrs. H. & E. Waters of Forest Row. The land on which the Hall had been built was eventually given to the village by Mr. C.H. Corbett in 1927.

A temporary kitchen and dressing room was built on to the back of the main Hall at the time of construction and these were replaced by the present kitchen and ladies' cloak room in 1975. In 1980 the further addition of a Committee Room and new gentlemen's cloak room completed the present building.

The field behind the Hall, once the Woodgate Park, now contains children’s play area, sports field with pavilion and tennis courts. A Scout Hut was on the site but has now been removed.

32 WEAVERS & SPENDERS
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In 1790 this plot of land was enclosed and granted to a John Awcock for the erection of a weaver's shop. 

By the 1830s it had been converted into a cottage. Later it was enlarged into two cottages, the later one, on the right of the photograph, now known as Spenders.

For some years between the wars the northern cottage was the home of the District Nurse.

33 EAST VIEW.
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This pair of cottages was built before the taking of the 1891 Census when they were described as “new houses” Thomas Muddle was the occupier.

The corrugated iron extension was added to hold the Post Office and Telephone Exchange in 1910.

After 193 .. the Post Office was moved to a building in front of Danehill Farm ( 9). The Telephone Exchange moved to The White House  (29).
The village allotments were once in the field behind these cottages.

New buildings since 1981

34 NEW VICARAGE 

Built in the garden of the former Vicarage (12 Victoria House) in 1988
Anything else about the vicarage ??
35 WELDANE COTTAGE built in the garden of, Hope Cottage (3) in 1989

36 SADLERS RIDGE and 37 MORGANSFIELD  These two house were built in the car park and garden of the “Crocodile” (2) in 1988

A conclusion of some sort
We hope this publication will convey something of the life and background of the history sort of thing but completed with a bit of style
KEY TO MAP

Number
page

1
CHERRY RIPE
5

2
THE CROCODILE
6

2a
CROCODILE STABLE

3
HILLSIDE COTTAGE & HOPE COTTAGE

4
ROBERTS WARREN

5
DANEHILL STORES

6
BARN. (D)

7
OLD FARMHOUSE(D)

8
DANEHILL FARM 

9
VILLAGE POND

10
DANEHILL SOCIAL CLUB

11
1 & 2 FAIR VIEW

12
VICTORIA HOUSE

13
OLD SMITHY (D)

13a 
NEW SMITHY

14
IVY COTTAGE

15
THE FORGE

16
FERN COTTAGE 

17
KNELLS (D) 

18
BARN (D)

19
COTTAGES (Demolished )

20
COTTAGE & SHOP (D)

21
HOLY TRINITY CHAPEL (D).

22
TOLLHOUSE (Demolished )

23 
LITTLE DANEWOOD NORTH & SOUTH

24
LITTLE DANEWOOD EAST & WEST – WHEELWRIGHT’S

25
1 - 3 ROSE COTTAGES

26
THE BAKERY

27
6 - 8 ROSE COTTAGES AND CORNER SHOP 

28
ST. CRISPINS

29
THE WHITE HOUSE

30 
WHITE HOUSE COTTAGE 

31 
MEMORIAL HALL 

32
WEAVERS AND SPENDERS 

33 
1 & 2 EAST VIEW COTTAGES 

34
NEW VICARAGE 

35
WEALDANE COTTAGE

36
SADLERS RIDGE

37
MORGANSFIELD 
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OS Map 1874 of Danehill Village Centre

Showing:
(17) Knells and its garden plot -above 2 of the number - 298.

(19 Pair of cottages) -to the right of the 8.

(20) Shop and Cottage - above these.

(21) Holy Trinity Church -above number 297.

(13) Old Smithy - across the road. 

(12) Victoria House – the earlier house is in Plot 595 also site of (11) Fairview.
(9) Village Pond– is the blue plot 593.

(8) Danehill Farm House its Barn (6) and farm buildings – above that.

(29)The White House and its farm buildings now (30). White House Cottage - is cross the main road. Almost hidden by the HOLY of HOLY TRINITY CHURCH is a cottage in the garden of The White House.

Numbers are from Village centre Map pp. 13 &14.
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Danehill Street looking North.
Taken about 1894 by Arthur Francis at the same time as the next photograph

Notes:

East View Cottages built.

Telegraph pole on front of East View – is it a single line?

Baptist Chapel. Possible gravestones in front.

The old “Crocodile” building just in view.

White House Cottage has been converted from a farm building.

Could use this as one of the larger photos
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As above scanned from print
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Holy Trinity Church after fire
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The Crocodile Beer House.
Arthur Francis took this at the same time as the two previous photographs. This was the old Beer House that was demolished in 1907 before the rebuilding.

William May and Louisa, his wife stand at the gateway, behind them could be Henry (Harry), their son, who was the next Landlord.
The building looks in pretty poor state in 1894.
It looks as if the lower building on th right is older
[image: image6.png]



Wheelwright’s shop with carts /Baker’s shop behind

On left of baker’s shop the front window could be displaying something for sale

White shed on left of picture

Interesting view Taken before corner shop was built on to No. 27

[image: image7.png]THE CROSSWAYS, DANEHILL, Sussex.




View of the White House (29) before 1920, probably earlier.
Shows the old, back part, of the building
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From the Church Tower after 1922
Good view of 23 to 28 and the wheelwright;s premises.
The Bakery and The Corner Shop.
The Firs 12 shows up. Pre Memorial Hall
Site of 19 and 20 Fruit tree still standing
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Shows the other side of the Chapel from below
Building on the left is probably the Old Smithy (13)
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Could use this one in the text and the colour one as one of the cover coloured,
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Fairview from print below
Shows Police sign on No, 2. And police notice board

Single telegraph pole

Hoadley “refuge” room

Low tree growth suggesting an early date.

May be earlier than the Francis photo as the white gate does not show

[image: image12.png]



From a poor print Taken around the same time as A. Francis
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KEY TO MAP 
Number
1
CHERRY RIPE ‑ Single Cottage. Mid 19th Century.

2
THE CROCODILE ‑ Public House. 1701. Rebuilt 1910.

3
HILLSIDE COTTAGE (West) & HOPE COTTAGE (East) A Pair. Pre 1661. Rebuilt 19th Century.

4
ROBERTS WARREN House. Built as Chapel c1824.

5
DANEHILL STORES House and Shop. Pre 1637. Rebuilt late 17th Century.

6
BARN. 17th Century? Demolished.

7
OLD FARMHOUSE. c1550. Abandoned 19th Century. Demolished 1979.

8
DANEHILL FARM - House. Pre 1629. Rebuilt early 18th Century. 


Extended c1800.

9
VILLAGE POND.

10
DANEHILL SOCIAL CLUB c1892 as a Reading Room, ext.. 20th Century.

11
FAIR VIEW – Semi-detached. Late 19th Century.

12
VICARAGE. 18th Century? Rebuilt c1905.

13
OLD SMITHY. 18th Century? Demolished late 19th Century.

13a 
NEW SMITHY. Now a small industrial premises.

14
IVY COTTAGE ‑ House. Mid 19th Century as two cottages.

15
THE FORGE ‑ House and Shop. c1450 as farmhouse.

16
FERN COTTAGE ‑ House. Late 18th Century?

17
KNELLS ‑ Farmhouse. late 16th or early 17th Century. Demolished 1893 ?

18
BARN. Position approx. 16th Century? Demolished 1835?

19
COTTAGES ‑ Pair. Early 19th Century? Demolished 1893?

20
COTTAGE & SHOP. c1770? Demolished 1893?

21
HOLY TRINITY CHAPEL. 1835. Demolished 1893.

22
TOLLHOUSE. c1820. Demolished c1870.

23 
LITTLE DANEWOOD NORTH & SOUTH- Pair. Late 19th Century.

24 LITTLE DANEWOOD EAST & WEST- Pair. East mid-19th Century. 

         West late 19th  Century.

25
1 - 3 ROSE COTTAGES. Nos. 1 and 2 pre 1875, No.3 a little later.

26
THE BAKERY - House. C.1881 as pair and bakehouse.

27
6 - 8 ROSE COTTAGES  c.1881. CORNER SHOP added to No. 8 c.1920

28
ST. CRISPINS. 1926.

29
THE WHITE HOUSE - House. Back c1450. Front 18th Century. 

30 
WHITE HOUSE COTTAGE  Earlier farm building, house. Mid 19th Century 

31 
MEMORIAL HALL. 1923. 

32 
WEAVERS AND SPENDERS A Pair. 1790 as Weavers shop, cottage by 1830. Spenders added mid 19th Century.

33 
1 & 2 EAST VIEW COTTAGES pre 1898

34
NEW VICARAGE 1988

35
WEALDEN COTTAGE 19??

36
SADLERS RIDGE –1988

37
MORGANSFIELD – 1988

 Editing down of  Hylda’s notes on The Bakery

A. J. Newnham who had the butcher’s and grocer’s shops at The White House (29) in the 1920s came to help out his ailing old friend, Alonzo Cox. A Ford motor van replaced the pony and trap when A.J Newnham took over the business in 1937. In 1947 his brother E.C. Newnham and his wife took over the business with Mr Cooper as the baker. William G. Cottenham took over the Bakery in 1951 and employed Colin Lucas as a roundsman.

Following the retirement of Mr Cottenham in 1979 the property and business was purchased by Mrs Reardon. Finding it difficult to find a skilled baker  Mrs Reardon tried buying in bread and cakes, unfortunately the business steadily declined and was closed down after Christmas in 1980.

A. J.Newnham 1937-1946.
He had been the Grocer and Butcher of The White House. He helped with the Bakery when Mr Cox was ill and took over the business after Mr Cox died.

E.C. Newnham and his wife, 1946-1951.

E.C. Newnham the younger brother of A.J. succeeded him and ran the Bakery until his death in 1949. His widow then carried on the Bakery, employing a Baker, Mr Cooper.

William G Cottenham 1951-1979
He purchased the business in 1951 and baked, in the original side flue oven, a splendid selection of bread, cakes, buns and biscuits. People came from outside the district to buy his wares. He employed a man to help him with the deliveries. The last roundsman was Colin Lucas. Mr Cottenham retired, through illness in 1979 and died a year later.

Mrs Ruth Reardon. 1980.
Mrs Reardon, the wife of Canon Reardon, then bought the Bakery and the attached cottage in 1980. She planned to live there with her family, run the shop and employ a Baker. She could not find a permanent skilled baker, so she then tried buying in ready-baked bread and cakes. Her business steadily declined and she closed the shop after Christmas 1980.

House No 12. 
The Horsted Keynes Tithe Map of 1840 shows a plot of land between Danehill Farm and Freshfield Lane containing a house, garden and sheds belonging to Joseph Assender and occupied by James Burtenshaw. This property was for many years associated with the lands of Danehill Farm, see note on page 12, almost certainly the farmers lived in this house. The ownership of the lands in Horsted Keynes and Fletching can be traced from Thomas Awcock in 1750 through various owners to Joseph Assender in 1840. Woodgate 
A brief note about the Russell robbery – see next next mag.
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This house and land was bought by Edward Hoadley of Danehill Stores in the late 19th century who built the two Fairview cottages (11).
Later he demolished the old house and built “The Firs”. for his own use. It was the Vicarage from 1939 until the present one was built in the grounds in 1988. The first Danehill Vicarage was built out of the village centre, on the Turnpike Road south of the village in the 1850s, now Richard Bartram House.
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Cherry Ripe, photographed in the 1930s before the timbering was added
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Both cottages have been extended since this photograph was taken in 1980
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Baptist Chapel
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Danehill Farm House


From a photograph taken before 1914.
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This photograph, taken in the 1930s, shows the weed covered village pond on the left, Danehill Farm House with the Post Office building beyond.


The new Telephone Kiosk is on the right.
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Taken in 1952. The original Reading Room building was on the right





�





�


Danehill Stores
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Photograph taken in 1980





�


Taken c,1910


Thomas Muddle stands outside with a local boy





�


Holy Trinity Chapel


Taken before the fire of 1887


Cottages (19) are on the left.





�


Little Danewood South


Alfred Warnett is standing in front of his shoemaker’s shop





�


From the photograph of Holy Trinity Chapel. The cottages (10) are on the left and the roof line of (20) on the right





�


Fern Cottage in 1980





�


View of Village pond, Danehill Farmhouse and Barn,


Danehill Stores on the right. Compare with 30 years later on page ??
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Victoria House





�


2 Fairview when a Police House





�


Could use this one





�


1930s view of Rose Cottages, The Corner Shop and St Crispens taken from the “Windmill Field”.


On the left of the photograph is the well that served the cottages once standing here.
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�


The wheelwright’s premises and “Providence Cottage”.


From a water colour painted c. 1870-80





�


Blacksmith’s & petrol pumps at the Forge in the 1920s. George Etherton, in leather apron was the last blacksmith, with brother, Edmond and uncle Edmond.
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The White House today


The earlier mediaeval part of the building is on the right of the photograph





�


Victoria House








(3)
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